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FOREWORD

The idea of vesting these paintings in the
Orange Regional Gallery was born of the
fusion of four thoughts.

The first is that no one person ever really
owns a work of art. If one is very lucky one
may have custody of it for a while, and that
privilege brings with it a responsibility to
protect and preserve the work and finally
to see that it is placed where it can

continue to do its job of communicating
the artist's experience for the enrichment of
all people. Artists are the frontier scouts of
human sensibility, and although their
perceptivity is often a long way ahead of
the rest of us we cannot ignore them
without loss to ourselves.

The second is that, of all the arts, it is in
the area of the visual arts that country
people are most deprived. Because they
are out of reach of the big museums they
lack the opportunity - readily available to
dwellers in the capital cities - to become
familiar with paintings of quality by visiting
and revisiting them over many years.
Familiarity with works of high quality -
even if limited in range and number - is in
my belief a vital factor in getting the most
out of those major and minor masterpieces
in the great museum collections before
which most of us can spend only a few
moments - or at best hours - in a lifetime.
Whilst it is encouraging to see State
Governments addressing this problem by
increasing both quantity and scope of
travelling exhibitions, these are by definition
of short duration, and I think of little use
unless the communities to which they are
shown have a constant, familiar point of
reference in a permanent collection,
permanently on view. The presence in any
community of such a constant yardstick
multiplies the benefits of temporary
exhibitions many times - most particularly
to young people who are in the process of
forming standards, tastes and habits.

Thirdly, I think that we must begin to
question, in an increasingly visually-
orientated and leisured age, the concept of
gathering up and storing - safely but out of
sight of all but a few curatorial high-priests -



that great bulk of our artistic treasure
which logistics preclude us from displaying
in ideal conditions. Conservation, preser-
vation and protection of works of art are of
course extremely important, but I know a
number of artists who would join me in
querying whether they are MORE important
than ensuring that the works are being
looked at, communicating their content to
people.

The fourth thought, lying at the back of all
these, was that it would be appropriate to
give something back to that part of
Australia which, despite a couple of
depressions and a few droughts, has given
my family such generous sustenance over
the past century; and within that region
Orange lies at the edge which to me seems
closest to bridging the gap in understanding
between city and country. Believing as | do
that the stability and integrity of our future
will be built upon such a bridge, it seems
meet that art, which is largely an urban
phenomenon, should provide a girder.

Having had the rare good fortune to be
amongst paintings for over a quarter of a
century, and hence able to assemble on a
modest scale some works of art which
speak to me personally with a clear voice, it
was easy, in the light of these thoughts, to
imagine how they could be put to best use.
But such ideas are not turned into reality
without the sympathetic understanding, co-
operation and effort of many other people.
In this case these qualities have been so
readily evident wherever they were needed
that the entire project has been a most
happy experience.

My appreciative thanks for bringing the
concept to its present state are due to the
Mayor of Orange, Alderman R.J. Niven,

and the Council of the City of Orange; to
the Town Clerk, Mr. W.J. Marshall, and
Council officers; to Paul Larance, formerly
Chairman of the Orange Art Gallery
Society and now Deputy Chairman of the
Orange Regional Gallery Advisory
Committee; to Michael Goss, Executive
Officer of the Regional Galleries Association
of New South Wales; to Peter Laverty,
former Director of the Art Gallery of New
South Wales and Head of the National Art
School; to Patricia McDonald, for the
expert knowledge and understanding she
has brought to the preparation of the
catalogue; to Catherine Lillico, Conservator
for the Regional Galleries of New South
Wales; most particularly to Jane Raffin,
Director of the Orange Civic Centre
Gallery, without whose enthusiasm, drive
and care for the community of Orange and
the Central Western Region the project
would undoubtedly have been stillborn;
and lastly to Godfrey Turner, whose help
has been constant, patient and sensitive
throughout.

The publication of this catalogue has been
generously assisted by the Visual Arts
Board of the Australia Council and by the
1983 Regional Galleries Exhibitions
Programme of the Division of Cultural
Activities (Premier's Department), for
whose support | am personally grateful.
There remains ahead the task of bringing
to completion an appropriate exhibition
space where the paintings may be
permanently on view to the regional
community. The enthusiasm and dedication
so evident in that community gives me
confidence that we will achieve this goal in
the near future.

Mary Turner. February 1983
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Public art galleries are very much an
accepted, indeed expected, part of our
existence. Travellers throughout the world
make straight for art gallery after art
gallery, usually to the point of fatigue. For
many people they have a fascination today
which the shrine had for the mediaeval
pilgrim. Every year, the world’s greatest art
museums each receive several million
visitors. Yet the concept of a public art
collection probably goes back no further
than the 15th century and civic collections
in Europe date only from the second half
of the 17th. In the 18th, the century of the
Grand Tour, many galleries were established
but it was the 19th which saw their great
proliferation. This same century also saw
the development of Australia in a Western
sense. However, by and large, Australia
went into the gallery business backwards.
Most public galleries in the world started
with a collection of art works in the form of
a gift, bequest or purchase for the public,
and the ensuing responsibility for its care
and display resulted in the construction or
conversion of a building for this purpose.
Some of the bequests, such as the famous
Wallace Collection in London, remain in
their original form in perpetuity as an
indication of the taste of the donor. Others
formed a nucleus around which subsequent
collections were built. In Australia, on the
other hand, we often started with a more
or less grand building as an expression of
civic or State pride and then set about the
task of filling it. Today, we are in a very
different situation. It has become necessary
to rehouse our now considerable State
holdings and in the case of Canberra, to
house for the first time our National
Collection. In a major building programme
extending from the 1960s to the present




time, extensive additions have been built in
Adelaide and Sydney and completely new
buildings erected in Melbourne, Perth,
Brisbane and Canberra.

In this largely still empty continent where
nature indulges in extremes, as a people
we have mostly huddled together in a few
coastal areas, and an extraordinarily high
percentage of our population is crowded
into our metropolitan centres, again on the
coast with one arbitrarily established
exception. Yet, paradoxically, much of our
national character and our image in the
world has so far been formed from the
Outback and life in the country. As with
our population, so have our principal
cultural assets tended to be concentrated in
our capital cities. In New South Wales it is
only very recently that we have made the
long overdue move to remedy this
imbalance by the establishment of an
extensive regional gallery system.

The pattern of development in regional
galleries in Australia began in 1884 with
the Ballarat Fine Art Gallery which opened
on its present site in 1887. Bendigo and
Warrnambool followed hard upon, and
these three were the forerunners of the
present very lively and extensive regional
gallery structure in Victoria. With its early
start and considerable public and govern-
ment support continuing to this day,
Victoria is still well in advance of the other
States.

The development of regional galleries in
New South Wales did not commence until
this century. Broken Hill, begun in 1904,
Tamworth in 1919 and Manly in 1924
were followed by the Howard Hinton
Collection at Armidale between 1929 and
1948. The Newcastle City Art Gallery

opened in 1957 (rehoused and renamed
the Newcastle Region Art Gallery in 1977).
All were significant in this initial move. Now
there are galleries at Wollongong, Albury,
Bathurst, Wagga Wagga, Maitland,
Muswellbrook, Lismore, Penrith and Lake
Macquarie. These, together with other
collections - the S.H. Ervin Gallery, those
attached to educational institutions and the
new complex due to open at Armidale in
March - are evidence of a very recent State
wide expansion. Significant in this expansion
was the inaugural meeting of the Regional
Galleries Association at Newcastle in 1972.
This meeting was precipitated by a grant
from the then State Cultural Grants
Advisory Committee. The developments
which followed the Newcastle meeting were
supported by a newly established
Departmental Committee for Museums and
Galleries. Now, there is much-needed State
and Federal aid which is helping materially
in the work of regional galleries. I believe,
however, that most important developments
arise from on-the-spot initiative which
relates directly to a specific situation.
Usually this is started by a few concerned
and dedicated individuals, people like Mary
and Godfrey Turner; people who, with
enlightened Council and other backing, can
turn an idea into a viable reality of great
benefit to the community. The cultural
focus which Community Arts Centres and
Public Art Galleries bring to a community is
of great importance in the integration of its
cultural life. An art gallery is also a
permanent expression of our heritage.

Traditionally a gallery is regarded as a
permanent collection. While this is true in
both the first and final analysis, recently the
role of galleries has been greatly extended.
Now, a ‘living museum’ is one which relates

actively to the community. In this, a
constantly changing exhibitions programme
is becoming increasingly important. So,
too, is an education service to bring the
work of a gallery directly to the people and
especially to schools.

The life of a gallery can also be
considerably enriched by supporting, affil-
iated organizations. These are particularly
relevant for funding. Basic to the success of
a gallery is its building and the fundamental
considerations of display, climate control,
security, storage and professionalism, for
these not only determine a gallery’s
suitability for travelling exhibitions but
affect the condition of its permanent
collection. The permanent collection is the
heart of a gallery. Owned by the
community in perpetuity it is built-upon not
only for one’s own generation but those to
come. Collecting policies are complex and
lead to much rationalization. Existing
holdings and those of other galleries can
determine areas of specialization to give
more than a local significance to a
collection.

Many galleries have started from the basis
of art competitions with acquisitive prizes
and this can be a somewhat haphazard
beginning. It relies on the quality of the art
entered and the expertise of the judges
who select. Over a period of years this
process is unlikely to lead to a related and
balanced collection. The more fortunate
galleries are those few which have
commenced with significant and integrated
collections given by generous private
individuals. This catalogue thus records not
only a most important gift to the Orange
Regional Gallery but a significant develop-
ment in the history of regional galleries in 5



New South Wales, for Mary Turner now
joins that all too short list of major private
donors.

This collection ranges in date from 1918 to
1980. While it does not attempt to be
definitive or even widely representative of
this period, it is broad in its coverage,
sympathetic in its approach to modernism
and consistent in its quality. This consistency
is one of its most distinguishing features
and one feels that the works have been
assembled on the basis of the specific
paintings and not, as often happens, on
reputation alone. Neither do these works
impose on the viewer a predilection for a
particular idiom in painting - although the
lan Fairweathers are outstanding. The
vision of the artists represented extends
from the direct and sometimes naive
observation of nature to the powerful
statements of Expressionism and the
sophistication of cerebral abstraction. It is
thus a discriminating personal selection
from a particularly rich and formative
period in the history of Australian painting.

Mary Turner has made a distinguished
contribution to Australian art. During her
many years at the Macquarie Galleries in
Sydney and a more recent period in
Canberra, she used her judgement, integrity
and dedication to promote the best in art,
help artists most sympathetically and assist
a great many people in forming their own
collections. Over a number of years she
also built up her important personal
collection. This she did with much care and
affection. It is the major part of this
collection which is now owned by the
Orange Regional Gallery.

That Godfrey and Mary Turner have

6 chosen to live at ‘Lallaween’ means that

Orange and its surrounding district are
greatly enriched. Nowhere is this more
evident than in the quality of Mary'’s
extremely generous gift to the community.
Any gift the scale of the Mary Turner
Collection brings with it the need for
proper care and housing. While Orange is
pursuing its plans to build a permanent and
appropriate home for this, its other
holdings and proposed activities, the Mary
Turner Collection will tour other regional
centres in Australia and thus enable a very
large number of people to see and enjoy
this remarkable gift.

Peter Laverty. February 1983



THE MARY TURNER
COLLECTION

The Mary Turner Collection was presented
to the City of Orange, New South Wales, in
1982. This remarkable gift comprises thirty
four Australian paintings and brings
together twenty artists active between
World War | and the present day. While
reflecting the donor’'s own aesthetic taste, it
has been specifically assembled to stimulate
interest in modern art and provide country
audiences with a permanent point of
reference.

The Collection includes a number of less
familiar artists, whose work is rarely shown
outside the National and State Galleries.
However, its intimate scale and emphasis
on figurative painting will soon reassure
even the most inexperienced visitor.

Mary Turner was raised on a country
property in the central west of New South
Wales. Her artistic involvement dates back
to childhood and is paralleled by one of
her mother’s sisters, who had studied at the
famous Julian Ashton Art School. She
herself later took private lessons from the
Sydney artists, Thea Proctor (another
former Ashton pupil) and Adelaide Perry.
Through this association, Mary came in
contact with the Macquarie Galleries and in
1956 she joined Treania Smith as co-
director.

The partnership was extremely successful
and spanned a period of twenty three
years. Subsequently, Mary and her husband
Godfrey transferred their activities to
Canberra where they conducted the
Murray Crescent Galleries, as a substitute
for the branch of the Macquarie Galleries
which operated in that city between 1965-
1978.

In 1981, she retired from the professional

art world. This enabled her to embark on a
long-term ambition: the development of a
collection of twentieth century Australian
art for the people of Orange and
surrounding districts.

The works, largely acquired during the
1960s and 1970s, were selected from her
own private collection. Not surprisingly, all
the artists, at some stage in their careers,
have been involved with the Macquarie
Galleries. Moreover, for fifteen of the
twenty, it was the location of their first solo
exhibition in Sydney. This adds a special
dimension to the Collection.

The Macquarie Galleries

“I think it was that steady continuity of
attitudes and approaches . . . and the belief
shared by all of its partners in turn that
although it had to be prudently and
frugally managed to pay its way, high
financial rewards were never expected of it
- these were the factors that gave it the
qualities of adventurousness and stability
that I think it had for over 50 years.”

Mary Turner, 1983

The Macquarie Galleries was founded in
1925 by art lovers and connoisseurs, John
Young and Basil Burdett. It quickly
established a reputation as Sydney’s most
important commercial gallery and from the
outset, supported the work of progressive
artists. The inaugural exhibition was
devoted to Roland Wakelin, while other
early associates included Grace Cossington
Smith, Margaret Preston, Thea Proctor and
Adelaide Perry. Despite several changes in
partnership, the Galleries maintained its
original philosophy and continued to
stimulate the local art scene.



Importantly, the directors saw themselves
as artists' representatives rather than
dealers. They also felt a special responsibility
to nurture public taste and to bring works
of art within the reach of all sectors of the
community. It is notable that this process
has been guided since 1938 by a number
of outstanding women directors - Treania
Smith, Lucy Swanton and Mary Turner
herself - thus continuing an already well-
developed tradition of female activism in
Australian art.

The Collection

“I have always been drawn more towards
the artists who worked from within the
established traditions and nibbled quietly
away extending the frontiers of those
traditions by consolidating their personal
discoveries, rather than to those innovators
who perceived new elements, new problems,
and then set about stating them -
preparatory to astonishing us all by the
elegance of their resolution.”

Mary Turner, 1983

Unlike art museum curators, who are
governed by the need to assemble ‘correct
versions of art history, the private collector
has no such constraints. Mary Turner
acquired works purely for her own
enjoyment. It is this personal aspect,
combined with a highly developed aesthetic
sense which gives the Collection its unique
identity.

Chronologically, the paintings span the
greater part of the twentieth century. They
do not attempt, however, to trace stylistic
developments within the period or to
represent every artist, school and move-

8 ment. The donor has focused instead on

works which evoke a “sensuous response”
and repay careful, contemplative study -
works as diverse as Jean Appleton’s Interior
with Armchair (1980), Eric Stewart’s Kunji,
The Jabiroo (undated) and Ken Whisson's
Domestic Machine (1974). At the same
time, the overall quality of the works in the
Collection makes it an important resource
for the study of twentieth century
Australian painting.

Some artists are represented by more than
one work. This does not necessarily imply
greater acceptance or ability but rather
reflects the artistic preferences of the
donor.

An obvious parallel can be drawn with the
Howard Hinton Collection, which was
assembled for the Armidale Teachers’
College during the 1930s. One of its major
strengths lies in the fact that he was
personally acquainted with most of the
artists whose work he patronised. The
same intimate relationship characterises the
Mary Turner Collection. Many paintings
were acquired through exhibitions at the
Macquarie Galleries, while a small number,
such as Kevin Connor's Portrait of a Woman
(1962), came directly from the artist’s
studio or estate.

The coherence of the Collection is further
reinforced by the close links which existed
between individual artists. For instance,
Jean Appleton and Grace Cossington
Smith painted together outdoors, while
Alison Rehfisch and George Duncan
married during the 1940s and shared a
studio in George Street, Sydney.

Apart from personal contact, many of the
artists were also linked professionally
through membership of various art societies

-

and organisations. The New South Wales
Society of Artists, the Contemporary Group
and the Contemporary Art Society, among
others, provided a forum for the exchange
of ideas and regular exhibition facilities
which were not readily available elsewhere.
Gradually, however, the influence of these
groups declined as more commercial
galleries were established in each major
city.

With few exceptions, artists represented in
the Mary Turner Collection had sound
formal training. Wakelin, Cossington Smith
and Duncan studied with the Sydney
teacher A. Dattilo-Rubbo; others, like
Rehfisch and Appleton, attended the East
Sydney Technical College.

Overseas travel has also played a crucial
role in their development. Many elected to
combine the experience with further study
at English and European art institutions
and were frequently funded through
travelling scholarships. Douglas Dundas, for
example, was awarded the New South
Wales Society of Artists’ Travelling
Scholarship in 1927; and some forty years
on, Stan de Teliga won the Flotta Lauro
Travelling Scholarship. The introduction of
the Harkness Fellowship, however, was later
to direct artists such as Sidney Nolan,
Rodney Milgate and Kevin Connor towards
the U.S.A.

While the Collection has been formed for a
country audience, it does not place undue
emphasis on landscape or rural themes.
Mary Turner has, however, chosen a small
group of works which present an alternative
to the traditional gum-tree school. These
include an untitled Wakelin landscape
(1918), Douglas Dundas’ Stanwell Park



(1930) and The Road to the Timber Mill
(undated) by Alison Rehfisch. The Wakelin
is particularly significant and reflects his
growing interest in the relationship between
the colours of the spectrum and the notes
of the musical scale - an interest which
reached its culmination the following year.

From the post-war period, she has selected
Stan de Teliga’s Kybeyan Summer | (1967),
which confronts the ambiguity between real
and reflected landscape. This forms a
startling contrast with the artist’s non-
figurative exploration of the same theme,
Winter Plain, Poland (1971). Here, he makes
no attempt to create an illusion of depth
but builds up the composition with patches
of slightly overlapping colours.

Two works by women artists have a
strongly nationalistic theme. In The Fox
Whistle (1946), Hilda Rix Nicholas
transforms a local bush worker into a figure
of heroic proportions, dominating the
landscape. This relationship between man
and the outback is also captured by
Frances Smith in her powerful and tightly
controlled painting, Stockriders, Alexandria
Downs (1961).

Similarly, the work of the naive painters,
Eric Stewart and Henri Bastin, relates to
the Australian bush ethos. My Opal Mine
(1958) expresses Bastin's fierce pride in his
adopted country. Stewarts’ Kunji, The
Jabiroo (undated), on the other hand,
approaches the realm of mysticism and
explores the aboriginal motifs first taken up
during the inter-war period by painters and
craftsmen alike.

Another loose grouping embraces the
home environment. Two major examples
are Cossington Smith’s Cushions On The

Sofa (1969) and Still Life With Oranges On A
Plate (1960), in which pure colours vibrate
against each other creating an illusion of
living light.

Although more representational, Interior
With Armchair (1980) by Jean Appleton
displays the same luminous qualities. A
surprising inclusion here comes from
Weaver Hawkins, whose work was long
described by the Sydney art world as “too
intellectual and cold”. His intensely
personal images of domestic tranquillity,
such as Motherhood (1925), were not widely
known.

The high proportion of women amongst
older artists in the Collection cannot be
overlooked. This should not be seen as a
deliberate feminist statement, however, but
rather reflects their prominent role at this
time.

Mary Turner attaches special significance to
the four lan Fairweather paintings.
Throughout his later years, the artist was
protected and cossetted by Mary and her
co-directors at the Macquarie Galleries,
allowing him the freedom to paint in
relative peace. Woman At Window (1955),
with its obvious figurative treatment, can be
used as a starting point to gain greater
understanding of his more complex works,
Xenophobia (1962), Science Fiction (1963)
and Painting VIl (1960). Their calligraphic
script and pictorial imagery owe much to
Asian and Australian aboriginal art.

Although essentially a Sydney-based
collection, two contemporary Melbourne
artists - Sidney Nolan and Ken Whisson -
are represented. They share a common link
through the painter Danila Vassilieff, who
was deeply interested in primitive and folk

art. Curiously, neither of the Nolan works
relate to the Australian subjects for which
he is best known here. In Church and Beach,
Hydra (1955), however, he captures the
essential Greek landscape; while Shakespeare
Sonnet No. 138 (1967) reveals his continuing
obsession with mythological themes.

Animals and Bright Cloud (1964), by
Whisson, is a violent, expressionistic
statement which echoes the naive qualities
of Nolan’s early work. A decade later, he
painted Domestic Machine (1974). Whisson
is primarly concerned with the transition of
shapes, and in this painting shattered
elements are reassembled to form the ‘icon’
car.

The post-war group of Sydney artists is less
easy to categorise. Frances Smith, Stan de
Teliga, Kevin Connor and Rodney Milgate
all attended East Sydney Technical College
but their paths later diverged considerably.
Courting (1962) and Portrait of a Woman
(1962) - painted by Kevin Connor within
two days of each other - both address the
problem of alienation. The tortured figures,
underlined by their placement on the
canvas, elicit a strong, emotional response
from the viewer.

Milgate, too, seeks metaphors for the
human condition. In Where Birth is Red and
Ripe (1963), Conception (1967) and Poet in
New York (1968), he has employed his
characteristic pictorial device of the maze
or labyrinth, linking him stylistically with lan
Fairweather. The rhythmic patterns are
harmonious, despite their complexity, and
the delicate threads of colour evenly
disperse the tension throughout the works.

Mary Turner complements these with two
non-figurative examples from the late



1970s. Both Frank Hinder and Hector
Gilliland explore the realm of geometric
shapes, although each arrives at a very
different solution. Whereas Gilliland's Rod
Diviner (1976) balances subtle colour and
reduced form, Hinder, in Dimensions
(1978), creates a densely-packed system of
vibrant, interlocking tones.

The youngest artist represented in the
Collection is Salvatore Zofrea. His large,
allegorical work, Psalm 7 (1976), forms part
of a cycle which was painted in response to
a deep spiritual crisis. Another of the
Psalms has been acquired for the Modern
Art Section of the Pinacoteca Vaticano and
a third was recently awarded the 1982
Sulman Prize.

The Orange Regional Gallery

“ 1 feel that these works should be on
permanent view in their entirety and the
milieu in which they are displayed should
be comfortable, warm and inviting - as
nearly domestic as we can make it within
the strictures of public areas, so that it is
not just an educational facility but a haven

of contemplative pleasure.”
Mary Turner, 1983

Mary Turner's gift follows a long, historical
tradition. Since the turn of the century, a
number of private benefactors have
provided generous support for the establish-
ment of regional galleries throughout New
South Wales. The Howard Hinton Collection
at Armidale is perhaps the best-known; but
other important examples include the
George McCulloch Collection, Broken Hill
(1904); the John Salvana Collection,
Tamworth (1919); and more recently, the

10 Lewers Bequest, Penrith (1980).

In singling out the City of Orange, Mary
Turner was guided by several considerations.
Clearly, her family links with the district
played an important role, as did the
sympathetic and enlightened attitude of the
Council and the strong climate of
community support for the arts. Plans to
establish a regional gallery were also well
underway.

Its origins can be found in the non-
acquisitive art prize awarded at the Banjo
Paterson Festival between 1961-1964. Out
of this event grew the biennial Orange
Festival of Arts, inaugurated in 1965 by a
committee of local citizens, with adminis-
trative assistance from Council. The
Festival has since achieved national
importance; and until 1979 sponsored
acquisitive art prizes in painting and
ceramics, thus providing the nucleus of the
present civic collection.

In 1977, the Festival Committee prepared
a detailed submission which led to the
formation of the Orange Art Gallery
Society. Members were charged with the
responsibility of organising regular
exhibitions in the Civic Centre Forum,
raising funds and working towards the
establishment of a new, public gallery.

Enthusiasm ran high throughout the
community and was further bolstered when
the Council appointed a full-time Director,
Jane Raffin. Now endorsed by the Council,
a member of the Regional Galleries
Association of New South Wales and
professionally managed, the ‘Orange Civic
Centre Gallery’ began to attract important
travelling exhibitions and to sponsor grass-
roots community art projects.

The haphazard method of acquisition by

prize was abandoned after 1979. Consult-
ation between Regional Gallery Directors,
aimed at putting slender resources to best
use, resulted in a collection policy based on
contemporary art clothes, jewellery and
ceramics - ‘Clothes and Clay'.

This level of activity made it imperative to
establish permanent premises for exhibition,
storage and administration.

Now, in early 1983, the dream seems likely
to become reality. State funding has been
sought and it is expected that work will
soon commence on a modern and well-
appointed library/art gallery complex,
adjacent to the Civic Centre.

The original Orange Art Gallery Society
has been replaced by two new organisations:
the Orange Regional Gallery Advisory
Committee, responsible for policy and
planning supervision, and the Friends of
the Orange Regional Gallery, a support
group of interested citizens affiliated with
similar groups in Australia and overseas.

Through her gracious and generous
gesture, Mary Turner has culturally enriched
the City of Orange, “opening magic
casements and establishing standards of
integrity and quality” for its citizens.

Patricia McDonald. February 1983
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CATALOGUE

Catalogue entries follow usual practice.
Measurements are given in centimetres, height preceding

width.

Where the title or date of a work cannot be fully supported,
it is enclosed with parentheses.
A brief biography has been provided for each artist in the

collection.

These are also standardised and cover training, major
exhibitions, awards and selected bibliographical references.

ABBREVIATIONS:

Badham

Burke

Germaine

Hughes

McCulloch

Moore

~ Smith

H.E. Badham, A Study of Australian Art,
Sydney, Currawong Press, 1949

Janine Burke, Australian Women Artists 1840-1940,
Melbourne, Greenhouse Publications, 1980

Max Germaine, Artists and Galleries of Australia
and New Zealand, Melbourne, Lansdowne, 1979

Robert Hughes, The Art of Australia,
Harmondsworth, Midd., Penguin, 1970, rev. ed.

Alan McCulloch, Encyclopedia of Australian Art,
Richmond, Vic., Hutchinson of Australia, 1977

William Moore, The Story of Australian Art, Sydney,
Angus and Robertson, 1934. 2 Vols.

Bernard Smith, Australian Paintings 1788-1970,
Melbourne, Oxford University Press, 1971, 2nd ed.
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